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By the Chief, Enforcement Bureau:

I. Introduction

1. This is a Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act”),
 and Section 1.80 of the Commission’s Rules,
 against CXR Holdings, Inc. (“Cox”), licensee of Station WAGG(AM), Birmingham, Alabama.  We find that Cox broadcast a telephone conversation without first informing the party to the conversation of its intention to do so, in apparent violation of Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules.
  For the reasons discussed below, we conclude that Cox is apparently liable for a forfeiture in the amount of $4,000.

II. Background

2. On October 12, 1999, the Commission received a complaint from Mary Anne Blake, wife of Dr. Jimmy Blake, a member of the Birmingham City Council.  Mrs. Blake asserted that on September 21, 1999, at around 7:45 p.m., Frank Matthews, a talk show host on WAGG(AM), called the Blake residence.  According to Mrs. Blake, she answered the telephone, Mr. Matthews asked to speak to her husband, and Mrs. Blake told Mr. Matthews that her husband was not home.  Mr. Matthews then asked a question about the state of Mrs. Blake’s marriage with Dr. Blake.  Mrs. Blake alleges that over one week later, she first learned from Dr. Eugene Edelman, a listener who heard the exchange between Mrs. Blake and Mr. Matthews, that Mr. Matthews had broadcast their telephone conversation live.  Dr. Edelman declares that, to the best of his recollection, Mr. Matthews never stated that the conversation was live and on the air.  According to Dr. Edelman, when he spoke to Mrs. Blake a week later and mentioned that he heard her on the air, Mrs. Blake “was shocked and amazed.”

3. On November 4, 1999, the Chief, Complaints and Political Programming Branch, Enforcement Division, Mass Media Bureau, sent Cox a letter of inquiry regarding Mrs. Blake’s complaint. Cox responded on December 9, 1999.  In Cox’s response, Mr. Matthews admits that on September 21, 1999, he called the Blake residence while on the air.  According to Mr. Matthews and other station personnel who were in the studio at the time, Mrs. Blake said “Hello,” and Mr. Matthews then identified himself as the host of WAGG’s “In Your Ear” program.  Mr. Matthews then “told her that I wanted to talk to her live on the radio,” and he asked to speak to Dr. Blake.  Mrs. Blake told Mr. Matthews that Dr. Blake was not at home.  Mr. Matthews next asked Mrs. Blake about a report concerning her marriage with Dr. Blake.  According to Mr. Matthews, “Mrs. Blake unequivocally told me that the story was not true.”  Mr. Matthews thanked her, wished her a “good night,” and ended the telephone call.

4. David R. DuBose, the General Manager of WAGG, declares that Cox had taken several steps in the past to ensure compliance with the Commission’s Rules, including holding regularly monthly meetings where Mr. DuBose and programming staff reviewed the Commission’s programming requirements, and distributing industry publications that reported on Commission enforcement actions.  During the week of November 15, 1999, Mr. DuBose reviewed Cox’s corporate programming policies (with special emphasis on Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules) with all individuals with on-air responsibilities at WAGG and its sister stations in Birmingham.  Mr. DuBose has also distributed a legal memorandum concerning compliance with that rule to personnel with programming-related duties at those stations. Finally, in part because of the instant matter, Cox is acquiring a broadcast delay system for WAGG.

III. Discussion

5. Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules provides, in pertinent part, that before recording a telephone conversation for broadcast or broadcasting such a conversation simultaneously with its occurrence, a licensee shall inform any party to the call of its intention to broadcast the conversation, except where such party is aware, or may be presumed to be aware from the circumstances of the conversation, that it is being or likely will be broadcast.

6. Cox admits that a “technical” violation of Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules occurred when Mr. Matthews telephoned the Blake residence while on the air, and Mrs. Blake answered the phone.  Cox claims that after Mrs. Blake answered the telephone, “Mr. Matthews did provide notice to Mrs. Blake about his intent to speak with her on the air.”  Mrs. Blake, on the other hand, claims that she “was unaware that Mr. Matthews was broadcasting the telephone call live . . . .”  Dr. Edelman corroborates Mrs. Blake’s claim that she did not know she was on the air until one week after the telephone call.  We note that Mr. Matthews’ statement that “I told her that I wanted to talk to her live on the radio” could be interpreted as a request to talk live on the radio in the future, as opposed to a warning that Mrs. Blake was currently on the air.  Even if Mr. Matthews had clearly warned Mrs. Blake that they were on the air, however, Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules specifically requires that notice be provided before broadcasting a conversation.  The Commission has specifically stated that “it is reasonable and desirable to retain for individuals the right to answer the telephone without having their voices or statements transmitted to the public” in the absence of prior notice.  Amendment of Section 73.1206: Broadcast of Telephone Conversations (Report and Order), 3 FCC Rcd 5461, 5463 (1988).  Thus, to ensure such privacy rights, the Commission has determined that it is not sufficient for a station to give notice that a conversation is being recorded or broadcast at the beginning of a telephone call, if the conversation is already being taped or broadcast.  Rather, “notice of intent to broadcast a conversation [must] actually precede the recording or transmission of the telephone call.”  Id.
  

7. Section 503(b) of the Communications Act and Section 1.80(a) of the Commission’s Rules both state that any person who willfully or repeatedly fails to comply with the provisions of the Communications Act or the Rules shall be liable for a forfeiture penalty. For purposes of Section 503(b) of the Communications Act, the term “willful” means that the violator knew it was taking the action in question, irrespective of any intent to violate the Commission’s rules.
 

8. Based on the evidence before us, we find that Cox broadcast a telephone conversation on September 21, 1999, in apparent willful violation of Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules.  The Commission’s Forfeiture Policy Statement sets a base forfeiture amount of $4,000 for the unauthorized broadcast of a telephone conversation.
  Cox argues that an admonishment, as opposed to a forfeiture, is appropriate because Cox and its corporate parent “have a strong commitment to ensuring compliance with Section 73.1206 and have undergone great lengths to ensure compliance with the FCC’s rules.”  While Cox may have previously discussed programming requirements with its staff, the specific steps that Cox took to ensure compliance with Section 73.1206 occurred only after it received the Commission’s letter of inquiry.  Those remedial efforts do not excuse prior violations.  See Sonderling Broadcasting Corp., 69 FCC 2d 289, 291 (Broadcast Bureau 1977), citing Executive Broadcasting Corp., 3 FCC 2d 699 (1966).  Under these circumstances, we believe that a $4,000 forfeiture is appropriate for the violation in this case.

IV. Ordering clauses

9. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and Sections 0.111, 0.311 and 1.80 of the Commission’s Rules,
 that CXR Holdings, Inc. is hereby NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY FOR FORFEITURE in the amount of four thousand dollars ($4,000) for willfully violating Section 73.1206 of the Commission’s Rules.

10.  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Section 1.80 of the Commission’s Rules, that within thirty days of the release of this Notice, Cox SHALL PAY
 to the United States the full amount of the proposed forfeiture or SHALL FILE a written statement seeking reduction or cancellation of the proposed forfeiture.

11.  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Notice shall be sent, by Certified Mail/Return Receipt Requested, to Cox’s counsel, Kevin F. Reed, Esq., Dow, Lohnes & Albertson, PLLC, 1200 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W., Suite 800, Washington, DC 20036-6802.



FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION



David H. Solomon



Chief, Enforcement Bureau

�  47 U.S.C. § 503(b). 


�  47 C.F.R. § 1.80.


�  47 C.F.R. § 73.1206.


�   See Declaration of Eugene Edelman, ED.D dated December 22, 1999.


�  See also KIDS-TV 6, 14 FCC Rcd 13351 (MMB 1999).


�  See Southern California Broadcasting Co., 6 FCC Rcd 4387 (1991).


�  The Commission’s Forfeiture Policy Statement and Amendment of Section 1.80 of the Commission’s Rules, 12 FCC Rcd 17087 (1997) (petitions for reconsideration pending); 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b).


�  47 C.F.R. §§ 0.111, 0.311 and 1.80.


�  Payment may be made by credit card through the Commission’s Credit and Debt Management Center at (202) 418-1995 or by mailing a check or similar instrument payable to the order of the Federal Communications Commission, to the Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482.  The payment should note the NAL/Account No. listed in the caption.
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